RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Apr 08, 2015, 3:12 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

COA NO. 336841

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TAPIO INVESTMENT COMPANY I, a Washington limited liability company; MONARCH INVESTMENT; TAPIO OFFICE IV PARTNERSHIP; CLONINGER/EUCKER PARTNERSHIP; PAMELA M. CLONINGER, an individual, and CLONINGER & ASSOCIATES, L.L.C., a Washington limited liability company,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, by and through the Department of Transportation,

Defendant/Respondent.

APPEALED FROM SPOKANE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO. 11-2-04552-2

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

I. INTRODUCTION

This involves case one of the most fundamental Constitutional rights that Washington Citizens have - the right to be paid Just Compensation when the government takes or damages their At the close of the Plaintiffs'¹ case, the Trial Court property. dismissed the Inverse Condemnation action. The Tapio Owners were unilaterally deprived of the opportunity to have the government's intentional acts weighed by a fact finder. The Trial Court's decision ignored the protections offered by the Constitution. The Court also ignored the evidence presented that established the Washington State Department of Transportation ("WSDOT") engaged in actions calculated to drive down the property value of* land it needed to acquire and to create a blight to devalue property in the Tapio neighborhood. The evidence at trial confirmed WSDOT took actions that destroyed Tapio's private property rights, its property value and left the Tapio Office Center warehoused for WSDOT's project. Indeed, the evidence confirmed that WSDOT

¹ Tapio Owners.

knew the impact its actions would have on private property rights and the blighting of the Tapio neighborhood.

WSDOT could have stopped at planning and announcing its plans and could have only acquired those parcels necessary for the phases of the project for which it had construction funding. It didn't. Instead, WSDOT made the decision to proceed with acquiring properties and to begin demolition in a way that left the Tapio Office Center as an island in the middle of the construction. This damaged the ability for Tapio to be leased long-term or sold - both protected property rights. Despite knowing the damages its actions were causing to the Tapio Owners' property rights, WSDOT steadfastly refused to either acquire the Tapio Office Center for the North-South Freeway or pay just compensation for the taking and damaging of the Tapio Owners' property rights in furtherance of the North-South Freeway.

WSDOT acquired all of the properties surrounding the Tapio Office Center, leaving the Tapio Center on an island in the middle of demolition and construction. **Ex. 143.** At trial, WSDOT employees confirmed the acquisitions were made in order to prevent these

properties from being re-zoned to commercial zoning. This prevented the neighborhood from transitioning to a commercial corridor. This decreased property values, including the value of the Tapio Office Center. The evidence also confirmed that this action not only greatly decreased the value of the Tapio Office Center, but also impacted its ability to be rented and made it so the Tapio Office Center, an investment for several families, could not be sold. Plaintiffs also attempted to present further evidence that WSDOT had knowledge of the impact that its market manipulation, delaying condemnation and acquiring property ahead of the phases for which construction had been funded would have on the remaining parcels like the Tapio Office Center. See Ex. 35. The Trial Court wrongfully rejected Exhibit 34 based on authentication, despite the fact it was authenticated as a matter of law. ER 904.

The Tapio Owners presented evidence of conduct by WSDOT that has been recognized as meeting the elements of a <u>Penn</u> <u>Central</u> taking or damaging and which established the damages affecting the property rights associated with the right to use, enjoy, and disposal of property. Nonetheless, at the close of Tapio's case,

the Trial Court (Judge Moreno) erred by granting WSDOT's CR 50 Motion dismissing Tapio's Inverse Condemnation Claim. This despite the fact that a mere two weeks before trial Judge Moreno had denied WSDOT's Motion for Summary Judgment on the exact same arguments and the evidence presented at trial was consistent with what Tapio had presented to the Court in response to the Summary Judgment Motions. In granting the motion, Judge Moreno ignored the applicable legal standards and the evidence before the Jury. The dismissal should be reversed and decided by a Jury.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Trial Court Erred By Granting Defendant's CR 50 Motion to Dismiss.
- 2. The Trial Court Erred By Refusing to Admit Exhibit No. 35 Based On Authentication.
- 3. The Trial Court Erred By Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Reopen To Authenticate Exhibit 35.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the Trial Court ignore the applicable law and the existence of the evidence upon which a reasonable jury could find WSDOT violated Plaintiffs' Constitutional right to be provided just compensation as a result of the taking or damaging of private property rights?

- 2. Does the Constitution protect citizens from having their private property rights of use, enjoyment and disposal damaged by actions taken by the government for a public purpose without the payment of just compensation?
- 3. Does interference by the government with property rights of use, enjoyment and disposal for a public purpose constitute a taking or damaging of private property rights?
- 4. Does the Constitution protect citizens from having their private property rights damaged as a result of the government engaging in conduct to manipulate property rights for a public project?
- 5. Does the Constitution protect citizens from having their private property rights damaged as a result of the government engaging in acquisitions in a manner the government knows will create a blighted or depressed neighborhood affecting the rights of properties it delays acquiring?
- 6. Does the Constitution protect citizens from having their private property rights damaged as a result of the government engaging in acquisitions in a manner the government knows will prevent a neighborhood's character from changing to commercial uses which directly affects the rights of properties it delays acquiring?
- 7. Does activity that interferes with the right to use, enjoy and dispose of property as well as causing a substantial loss of value to the property, constitute a taking or damaging of the property under the Constitution?
- 8. Does the right to use and enjoy property include the ability to sell the property?
- 9. Does a damaging of private property rights occur if there is evidence that the ability to sell the property has been impacted by the government's conduct?

- 10. Under <u>Penn Central</u>, does a constitutional taking or damaging of property occur through government action even if the government action does not involve a "*permanent physical taking*" or a complete deprivation of "all economically beneficial use"?
- 11. Is the Constitution provision prohibiting the taking or damaging of property without payment of just compensation intended to protect all essential elements of ownership which make property valuable?
- 12. Does the entry of a Final Limited Access Order constitute a *"regulatory action"*?
- 13. Do the <u>Penn Central</u> elements establishing a compensable taking or damaging extend to government action beyond a written regulation or statute?
- 14. Can a Constitutional taking or damaging of private property rights occur even if the real property at issue has not been *"physically invaded"*?
- 15. Can the announcement of an intent to condemn combined with other activity by the government result in the taking or damaging of private property rights requiring the payment of just compensation under the Constitution?
- 16. Can undue delay in acquiring property or oppressive conduct by the government result in an unconstitutional taking or damaging of private property rights?
- 17. Should Plaintiffs' Exhibit 35 have been admitted where there was no objection to authenticity when it was identified in Plaintiffs' ER 904's?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an extremely unique case. The Tapio Owners presented direct evidence that WSDOT was engaging in property acquisition for the North-South Freeway ahead of their construction phases in order to manipulate the real estate market in a way that damaged private property rights. The evidence confirmed that WSDOT purchased properties despite not having funding for construction of that phase in order to prevent the neighborhood from becoming commercial and increasing in value. The evidence also established that WSDOT knew the impact its actions were having on the Tapio Owners' property rights and that WSDOT has delayed acquiring Tapio Center despite being aware of the damage and having sufficient funds to acquire it. In addition, based on an improper authentication ruling, the Tapio Owners were deprived of providing further evidence of WSDOT's intent as it related to the consequences of purchasing properties surrounding unpurchased parcels and engaging in construction activities those in neighborhoods.

We were figuring about 5 years before construction was slated for this area. So, in another 3 years we

will have purchased more of the surrounding properties, creating an even more blighted or depressed commercial area along Market Street. We will also be 3 years closer to construction, which makes it an even riskier venture for any other potential tenant if Ziegler is gone.

Ex. 35 (emphasis added). As set forth below, the evidence at trial

established that the Tapio Owners' claim should have been presented

to the Jury along with **Ex. 35**.

A. <u>RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY</u>

- 1. On November 2, 2011, Plaintiffs filed their Inverse Condemnation action and this matter was assigned to Judge Jerome J. Leveque. CP 1-7.
- 2. In 2012, WSDOT moved for Summary Judgment seeking to dismiss Plaintiffs' claims based on many of the same arguments WSDOT made to the Trial Court in 2014. CP 254-279. Judge Leveque denied the Motion for Summary Judgment finding that genuine issues of material fact existed. CP 546-549.
- 3. WSDOT's Motion for Discretionary Review was denied December 19, 2012. Appendix A.
- 4. WSDOT's Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling was Denied March 19, 2013. Appendix B.
- 5. The case was reassigned from Judge Leveque to Judge Moreno. WSDOT attempted to overturn Judge Leveque by renewing its Summary Judgment Motion. CP 1070-1133. The Motion was heard by Judge Moreno on May 16, 2014, a mere two weeks prior to trial. On May 29, 2014, Judge

Moreno denied the Motion and confirmed that genuine issues of material fact existed. CP 2107-2111.

6. Trial began June 2, 2014. On June 10, 2014, Plaintiffs rested their case which included the admission of 88 Plaintiff exhibits, 41 Defendant exhibits, and testimony by eight witnesses including two employees of WSDOT. During the trial, Plaintiffs produced substantial evidence from which a reasonable jury could determine that Plaintiffs' property rights had been taken or damaged.

7. Despite recognizing that there was substantial evidence that because of WSDOT's actions "a willing buyer could not get financing" and evidence that "no one will purchase" Plaintiffs' property, the Trial Court granted WSDOT's Motion to Dismiss. VRP 1186, II. 17-20. However, based on comments during the ruling, it was clear that Judge Moreno failed to consider or recall substantial and important evidence that was presented supporting Plaintiffs' claims. VRP 1192, ll. 19-25; 1193, ll. 1-7. Notably, this was the exact opposite of the ruling the Trial Court made a mere two weeks prior when it denied WSDOT's renewed Motion for Summary Judgment on the same issues. CP 2107-2111. In granting the Motion, the Trial Court ignored the applicable legal standards and the evidence confirming that there had been taking or damaging of Plaintiffs' property rights. An Order granting the CR 50 Motion to Dismiss was entered on June 20, 2014. CP 2774-2788.

B. RELEVANT EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL

At trial, Tapio not only presented the same evidence that had been presented in response to WSDOT's prior Summary Judgment Motions, but also additional evidence of WSDOT's acquisition scheme. Trial included direct evidence that WSDOT damaged Tapio Owners' private property rights including the ability to sell the Tapio Office Center. WSDOT employees testified that the properties surrounding Tapio were acquired to manipulate the real estate market by preventing properties from being re-zoned. <u>Infra</u>. There was testimony the re-zoning of these properties would have changed the neighborhood to a commercial area and increased the value of Tapio Center. There was also evidence that the demolition of the neighborhood destroyed the value of the Tapio Center. Furthermore, Plaintiffs also attempted to introduce a WSDOT email that showed WSDOT knew the consequences of purchasing properties surrounding unpurchased parcels and engaging in construction activities in those neighborhoods.

We were figuring about 5 years before construction was slated for this area. So, in another 3 years we will have purchased more of the surrounding properties, creating an even more blighted or depressed commercial area along Market Street. We will also be 3 years closer to construction, which makes it an even riskier venture for any other potential tenant if Ziegler is gone.

Ex. 35 (emphasis added).

The evidence established that WSDOT's acquisitions and construction in the immediate neighborhood forced Tapio to carry

the burden of funding the North-South Freeway pending its completion by creating a blighted and/or depressed area that would make properties cheaper to acquire if WSDOT waited out the property owners. Accordingly, the evidence confirmed WSDOT decided to deliberately execute its plan to damage private property rights for a public purpose.

1. TAPIO CENTER

The Tapio Office Center is located at the intersection of Interstate-90 and the Freya/Thor Interchange and is a development that consists of nine office buildings and a full-service restaurant on 6.2 acres. <u>See Ex. 102</u>. The development was designed and operates as one center with the buildings positioned along the perimeter of the site to allow for a park-like setting on the interior with a large parking lot providing substantially more parking than required. Each building was designed and built to provide complimenting amenities for the success of the entire project. The design takes into consideration reciprocal parking, multiple access points, an on-site deli/coffee house, and a full service restaurant. Because of the way the improvements were constructed, the use of the center as an operating development has a unique, close and interdependent relationship with the property. See Ex. 210.

Tapio Center is a unique commercial property whose improvements add significant value to the property and the business. Tapio Center was constructed to operate as one cohesive commercial development to generate rental income. <u>See Ex. 210</u>; VRP 623-626. The property was strategically assembled, designed and built by architect Glen Cloninger beginning in the '70's. VRP 996-97; 1000. The location and lay-out was picked because of the access and to create a park-like commercial office complex. VRP 1001.

Tapio is owned by several families – the Dixon Family²; the Wilharm family³; the Bouten Family⁴; the Eucker Family; and the Cloninger Family⁵. VRP 621; 634. Although the management of the office center is split, all of the common areas are managed jointly, share a joint utility and water systems and are subject to

² Consisting of Hal Dixon, Grant Dixon and Jan Dixon along with their adult children -Darren Dixon, David Dixon, John Stejer, Shelly Stejer, Cassandra Dixon and Darcy Dixon.

³ Jim Wilharm's family.

⁴ Frank Bouten's family.

⁵ Glen Cloninger's family.

reciprocal parking agreements, all of which allows the Tapio Center to operate as one cohesive complex in the marketplace. VRP 1006-1007.

The approved plans for the North-South Freeway shows WSDOT eliminating all of the southern access off of the Tapio project. VRP 557, ll. 13-18. The approved plans show three buildings in the Tapio Center being taken and two other buildings being "*clipped*" by the construction project. VRP 562, ll. 6-17. This destruction of five buildings in the Tapio Center has been depicted in WSDOT's plans as far back as at least 1999. VRP 562, ll. 24-25; VRP 563, ll. 1-3.

2. THE NORTH-SOUTH FREEWAY

In 1997, WSDOT began designing the North-South Freeway project. The design and the plans for construction showed that the freeway would be constructed on nearly half of the Tapio Center property and that nearly all of the access would be taken from the remaining property. <u>See e.g.</u> **Ex. 73, 105; 106; 109 and 122**. The design and plans were finalized in approximately 2002, and as they relate to the Tapio Center, have not changed in any substantive manner since. VRP 559. The right of way plans were approved in 2002/2003. VRP 559, ll. 8-10. The limited access plans, including the construction on Tapio Center, was finally approved in 2005 after an administrative hearing. VRP 559, ll. 16-18. Since that time, there have been no other approved right-of-way plans in the area of I-90 other than the one approved in 2005. VRP 559, ll. 19-23.

From the time the North-South Freeway design was approved in the late 90's, the plans have been highly publicized. VRP 554. <u>See also Exs. 13-15, 37, 39, 73, 74, 75, 80, 82, 83, 105, 106, 109,</u> **112, 121, 143, 202, 203, 205, 206, 207, 208, 210, 221, 222, 223, 224, and 233**. This has included more than 100 public meetings, open houses, community group presentations, neighborhood counsel presentations, and formal hearings. <u>Id</u>. WSDOT also directly contacted every property owner and tenant along the proposed route and there were numerous one-on-one meetings with WSDOT staff and interested citizens. <u>Id</u>.

In 1999, the Owners of Tapio Center provided notice to WSDOT that the mere announcement of plans including the Tapio Center had started to impact their ability to lease the property in 1999. Ex. 1. By December, 2002, WSDOT was aware that its continued activities were creating an economic blight on the Tapio property. VRP 398, 11. 22-25; 399, 11. 2-5. Tapio requested at that time, more than 13 years ago, that WSDOT acquire its property or initiate condemnation proceedings to prevent further damage to its property rights from occurring. Ex. 17; VRP 401.

For properties acquired for the North-South Freeway project in the area of Tapio, WSDOT would contract out the demolition of the property. VRP 431, ll. 7-13; VRP 435. At trial, evidence of the demolition for construction of properties surrounding Tapio was presented to the jury. <u>See</u> VRP 437-439; **Exs. 10, 24, 27, 29, and 32**. This construction activity, demolition, occurred in the area of Tapio for the North-South Freeway. VRP 557, ll. 19-22. In fact, WSDOT has acquired the properties on each side and up to the Tapio Center. <u>See</u> **Ex. 143**. WSDOT spends approximately \$100,000 per year for mowing and weed control in the lots that have been razed. VRP 558, ll. 9-12.

During trial, evidence was presented confirming that WSDOT was acquiring properties outside of the phases for which they had funding to perform construction in order to manipulate the real estate

market for the area surrounding Tapio and depress market values.

Q. All right. And if there were —if there were these discussions going on, what was the —what was the issue with respect to a potential zoning as it impacted the North-South Freeway, if there was one?

A. Well, it would be a normal course of business. If the land was rezoned, then we would pay the current market value as related to that zone.

Q. So the concern was if it was residential property rezoned to business or commercial, the property values would go up and the state would have to pay more money?

A. Correct.

VRP 441, ll. 18-25; VRP 442, ll. 1-3 (emphasis added). <u>See also</u> VRP 444 and 499. WSDOT was acquiring property surrounding Tapio because it was "*where we [WSDOT] need to go.*"

...decide what --you know where the freeway should be built next, what -- what should be the next steps. And then we would provide to Tim, or to Real Estate Services, an area that this is where we need to go. And then he would use the right-of-way maps to go begin purchasing property in that area.

VRP 568, ll. 3-11. As it related to the I-90 area, WSDOT elected to treat Tapio different than other citizens and place a higher burden on them. This despite knowing their action was having an impact on

Tapio Center's property rights. This included entering into a "*commitment*" with the East Central neighborhood leadership to purchase the residential properties that WSDOT did not want to end up re-zoned commercial. VRP 572, 11. 22-25; 573, 11. 1-7.

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