Under Washington law, an action may be brought for inverse 

condemnation when the government takes private property without 

instituting formal condenmation proceedings. A taking occurs if the 

physical right to use or enjoy the property is impaired, or a regulation is 

imposed that is so burdensome that it restricts use of the property. Because 

neither a physical nor a regulatory taking occurred, the trial court properly 

dismissed the Tapio Companies' (Tapio) case. 

Tapio contends that a taking must have occurred because the State 

Department of Transportation's (WSDOT) conduct in acquiring other 

property for highway right-of-way decreased the value of Tapio's

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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard Of Review. 

The Cami reviews a trial court's CR 50 ruling de nova, engaging in 

the same inquiry as the trial comi. Schmidt v. Coogan, 162 Wn.2d 488, 

491, 173 P.3d 273 (2007). Judgment as a matter of law is proper only 

when, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nom11oving 

party, substantial evidence cannot support a verdict for the nonmoving 

paiiy. Id. at 491, 493. 

B. Tapio's Case Was Properly Dismissed Because There Was No 
Physical or Regulatory Taking of Their Property. 

Tapio alleges that WSDOT engaged in an inverse taking of its 

property. An inverse taking occurs when property is "appropriated in fact, 
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but with no formal exercise of the power of eminent domain." Phillips v. 

King County, 136 Wn.2d 946, 957, 968 P.2d 871 (1998). The test for 

inverse condemnation requires proof of four elements: "(1) a taking or 

damaging (2) of private property (3) for public use ( 4) without just 

compensation being paid (5) by a govenunental entity that has not 

instituted formal proceedings." Id. The claimant has the burden to prove 

each element. Keene Valley Ventures v. Richland, 174 Wn. App. 219, 225, 

298 P.3d 121 (2013), review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1020 (2013). 

Tapio failed to prove the first element, because WSDOT did not take 

or damage their property. Inverse condemnation is not a hazy concept that 

requires the taxpayers to pay every property owner indirectly impacted by 

the government. Rather, compensation is due when the govenm1ent 

directly appropriates prope1iy or issues a regulation resulting in a taking. 

See Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc., 176 Wn.2d 909, 929, 296 P.3d 860 

(2013); Manufactured Housing Conun. v. State, 142 Wn.2d 347, 13 P.3d 

183 (2000) (mobile home park regulations); Fitzpatrick v. Okanogan 

County, 169 Wn.2d 598, 238 P.3d 1129 (2010) (physical invasion by 

water). Tapio did not establish either form of taking. There is no evidence 

of a physical taking and there is no regulation affecting Tapio' s property. 
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1. was no physical taldng of Tapio's property. 

Tapios' witnesses confirmed that there was no physical damage or 

loss of access to its property. VRP 706-07, 1079-80. The property 

identified by the 2005 limited access design for possible future acquisition 

will not be affected unless WSDOT purchases or condemns the property. 

Plaiming a highway project is a major endeavor that takes years of 

surveying, environmental studies, proposed plans, public input, and state 

and federal political negotiation to obtain funding. WSDOT's actions do 

not "restrict or restrain in any manner the improvement, development, or 

other use" of property within with the proposed highway, until WSDOT 

records a final plan with the county auditor. RCW 47.28.026(2). Because 

WSDOT had not recorded a plan, Tapio's use or sale its property was not 

restricted. Id. 

2. Tapio's ability to use the property by selling it was not 
impaired. 

Although Tapio's right to sell was unimpaired, Tapio contends that 

use of the property was impaired because knowledge of WSDOT's 

preliminary plans caused the market value to drop. VRP 865-66. Tapio 

contends that any measurable loss of market value entitles them to 

compensation. Br. at 32. But the United States Supreme Court has held 

that impairment of the market value of real property incident to otherwise 

legitimate govenm1ent action does not establish a taking. Kirby Forest 
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Industries v. United States, 467 U.S. 1, 15, 104 S.Ct. 2187, 81 L. Ed. 2d 1 

(1984). In Kirby Forest, the owner's land was identified for acquisition by 

the National Park Service. Seven years later, Congress passed a statute 

directing the Secretary of the Interior to acquire the landowner's tract for a 

national preserve. Id. at 7. The govemment commenced a condemnation 

action, filed a notice of lis pend ens, and publicized the condemnation 

proceeding. In rejecting the owner's takings claim, the Supreme CoUli 

held that "in the absence of an interference with an owner's legal right to 

dispose of his land, even a substantial reduction of the attractiveness of the 

property to potential purchasers does not entitle the owner to 

compensation under the Fifth Amendment." Id. at 15. The Court cautioned 

that although it is certainly possible that publishing intent to condemn the 

land reduced the sale price, this did not obstruct the owner's ability to sell 

or develop the property. 

Contrary to Tapio's argument, loss of value alone is not recognized as 

a taking in Washington, either. In making this allegation, Tapio selectively 

quotes Highline School District v. Port of Seattle, 87 Wn.2d 6, 548 P .2d 

1085 ( 1967). Br. at 32. In Highline, the Court addressed the loss of the 

schools' ability to use and enjoy its property after an invasion of new jet 

airplane noise, and an increase of ammal air operations overhead to more 

than 100,000 flights. This doubled the classroom and instructional time 
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lost because of aircraft noise. Id. at 8. Given the incursion on the ability to 

use and enjoy the property, the Court held that an inverse condemnation 

claim could be brought. Unlike the Highline School District, Tapio did not 

lose its ability to use or enjoy its property. There is simply no support for 

Tapio' s contention that a loss in market value alone is an interference with 

property use. 

3. Government use of adjacent land did not encroach on 
Tapio's use of its property. 

Tapio relies on a number of cases in which the physical invasion 

involved a taking of some aspect of physical ownership and control. Union 

Elevator & Warehouse v. State, 96 Wn. App. 288, 980 P.2d 779 (1999) 

concerned a physical taking of access to a property. Dickgeiser v. State, 

153 Wn.2d 530, 105 P.3d 26 (2005) concerned logging ofland adjacent to 

private property, which caused winter and spring floodwaters to damage 

homes, septic systems, and drinking water. Ackerman v. Port of Seattle, 55 

Wn.2d 400, 348 P .2d 664 (1960) concerned noise interference caused by 

increased airplane overflights near an airport. These cases illustrate that a 

taking may occur based on activity on adjacent land-but only if it results 

in a physical impairment of the property as issue. Because Tapio's 

property, access, and use were not impaired, these cases are not 

applicable. 
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4. is no 
regulatory taking. 

there cannot be a 

Unable to show evidence of a physical taking, Tapio contends its 

property was impaired by a regulation. Yet Tapio's witnesses also 

conceded at trial that there was no regulation, rule, or restriction imposed 

on their property that impeded their operations. VRP 706-07, 1079-80. 

Tapio argues that the 2005 limited access design was an implied 

'regulation.' This is incorrect. As stated above, Washington law 

affinnatively provides that until a final plan is recorded with the county 

auditor, property rights remain unrestricted. RCW 47.28.026(2). After a 

plan is recorded, owners of prope1iy along the proposed right-of-way are 

restricted from erecting new structures or engaging in substantial 

improvements. See VRP 819-20. The possibility that WSDOT may take 

such action in the future is not sufficient to support a regulatory takings 

claim. 

Even in cases in which there is a regulation, compensation is not 

afforded every time a regulation has an incidental impact on prope1iy 

values. Regulatory inverse condemnation occurs only when govermnent 

imposes a regulation that is so restrictive that it rises to the level of a 

taking. See, e.g., Sintra, Inc. v. Seattle, 119 Wn.2d 1, 829 P.2d 765 (1992) 

(land use regulation). The plaintiff must prove that the regulation 
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"destroys or derogates a fondamental attribute of ownership: the rights to 

possess exclusively, to exclude others, and to dispose of property." 

Robinson, 119 Wn.2d at 49-50. In other words, a regulatory taking can 

occur if a regulation "goes too far." See Phillips, 136 Wn.2d at 964-65. A 

bare allegation of financial impact is insufficient to support a claim. Since 

Tapio is unable to show even a regulation, it has no basis for its case. 

5. Federal courts have also rejected the notion that 
compensation must be awarded for every impact on 
property values. 

In asking the Comito expand the law and find inverse condemnation 

in the absence of a physical or regulatory taking, Tapio inconectly argues 

that federal and state cases support the contention that any impact on 

prope1iy value requires that the taxpayers provide just compensation. In 

reality, this concept has been widely rejected. 

For example, in Penn Central Transportation Co. v. New York City, 

438 U.S. 104, 107, 98 S. Ct. 2646, 57 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1978), the Supreme 

Court held that a municipal law restricting development of historic 

landmarks financially ham1ed the owner of Grand Central Tenninal, and 

but did not result in a regulatory inverse condemnation. Id. at 107. The 

regulation prevented Penn Central, the terminal's owner, from entering a 

long~term lease with a company that plaimed to build an office building 

above the terminal. Id. at 116. Under the 1968 lease agreement, Pe1m 
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Central would have received $1 million ammally during construction, and 

at least $3 million a year for the next 50 years. Id. at 116. 

In denying Penn Central's takings claim, the Court rejected the notion 

that a taking must have occuned simply because the value of terminal was 

significantly diminished. Id. at 130. "'Government hardly could go on if to 

some extent values incident to property could not be diminished without 

paying for every such change in the general law."' Id. at 124 (quoting 

Penn. Coal Co. v. Mahon, 260 U.S. 393, 413, 43 S. Ct. 158, 67 L. Ed. 322 

(1922)). This is point is particularly applicable to highway pla1ming. Each 

study the State undertakes, each alternative plan it publishes for public 

input, each modification considered to mitigate enviromnental hann, may 

change the perceived value of property in the area. If the taxpayers must 

compensate every property owner whose value fluctuates during the 

planning phase, there would never be sufficient funding to construct the 

highway and provide just compensation for property owners whose 

property actually is taken. 

Penn Central also demonstrates that even when there is a regulation at 

issue, just showing economic loss is insufficient to constitute a taking. 

Here, however, Tapio cannot even cite a goverm11cnt regulation. Lacking a 

regulatory restriction upon the use of prope1iy, the regulatory takings 
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analysis ends at the first element: there is no regulation which is 

"vulnerable to a taking challenge[.]" Robinson, 119 Wn.2d at 49-51. 

Tapio cites a series of cases, each distinguishable. Guggenheim v. City 

of Goleta, 582 F.3d 996, 999 (9th Cir. 2009) (mobile home rent control 

ordinance). Yancey v. United States, 915 F.2d 1534, 1536 (Fed.Cir.1990) 

(USDA poultry quarantine); Lingle v. Chevron US.A., 544 U.S. 528, 532, 

125 S. Ct. 2074, 161 L. Ed. 2d 876 (2005) (regulation limiting rents); 

Presbytery of Seattle v. King County, 114 Wn.2d 320, 325-26, 787 P.2d 

907 (1990) (ordinance which prohibiting construction); First English 

Evangelical Lutheran Church v. County of Los Angeles, 482 U.S. 304, 

306-07, 107 S.Ct. 2378 (1987) (flood protection ordinance); Berst v. 

Snohomish County, 114 Wn. App. 245, 57 P.3d 273 (2002) (Forest 

Practices Act land use moratorium); Martin v. Seattle, 46 Wn. App. 1, 728 

P.2d 1091 (1986) (boathouse construction regulation). The issue in each 

case was whether the regulation was so restrictive that it rose to the level 

of a taking. None of these cases provided compensation in the absence of a 

regulation, during a time the government was contemplating possible 

future regulation or action. 

From Oregon, Tapio cites Lincoln Loan v. State Hwy. Comm., 274 Or. 

49, 545 P.2d 105 (1976), which no longer appears to be good law in that 

state. See Dep't of Trans. v. Hewett Prof Group, 321 Or. 118, 133-34, 895 
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P .2d (1995). Clay County Realty Co. v. Gladstone, 254 S.W.3d 859 

(Mo.bane 2008) concerned the interpretation and interplay of Missouri 

statutes, and is not relevant here. Reichs Ford v. State Roads, 388 Md. 

500, 880 A.2d 307 (2005) turned on the interpretation of a Maryland 

statute, and contradicts Washington law as embodied in Orion. State Dep 't 

Transp. v. Barsy, 113 Nev. 712, 941P.2d971 (1997) overruled on other 

grounds by GES, Inc. v. Corbitt, 117 Nev. 265, 21 P.3d 11 (2001), was a 

formal condemnation case. Finally, Johnson v. City of Minneapolis, 667 

N.W.2d 109, 116 (Minn. 2003), by its own terms, is limited to its unique 

facts. 

Tapio's reliance on Mekuria v. Washington Metropolitan Area 

Transit, 975 F.Supp. 1, 2-3 (D.D.C. 1997), is equally without merit. The 

case does not support Tapio' s claim that a taking may be found in the 

absence of a regulation. In Mekuria, the court considered the impact of a 

transit district's decision to block off all vehicular and pedestrian access to 

a business for several years, in order to build a new metro station. Despite 

being a physical takings case, Mekuria applied regulatory takings case 

law. Id. In 2002, the United States Supreme Court overruled Mekuria, and 

all other like cases, expressly holding that courts are not to apply 

regulatory takings case law to a physical takings claim, and vice versa. 

Tahoe-Sierra Pres. Council v. Tahoe Reg. Pl. Ag., 535 U.S. 302, 323-24, 
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122 S. Ct. 1465 (2002). The Court noted that most land use regulations 

tend to impact prope1iy values, often in unanticipated ways. "Threating 

them all as per se takings would transform government regulation into a 

luxury few govenunents could afford. By contrast, physical appropriations 

are relatively rare, easily identified, and usually represent a greater affront 

to individual property rights." Id, at 323-24. 

The Supreme Court's reasoning strongly counsels against Tapio's 

request that regulatory takings law be grossly expanded to require 

government compensation before regulation or physical restriction is 

imposed on property. Construction of public-works projects would be 

severely impeded if the government could incur inverse-condemnation 

liability merely by announcing plans to condemn prope1iy in the future. 5 

Such a rule would encourage the govenunent to maintain the secrecy of 

proposed projects as long as possible, hindering public debate and 

increasing waste and inefficiency. After aimouncing a project, the 

goverrnnent would be under pressure to acquire the needed property as 

quickly as possible to avoid or minimize liability. This likewise would 

limit public input, and forestall any meaningful review of the project's 

enviromnental consequences. The govc11m1ent also would be reluctant to 

5 See Westgate Ltd. v. State~ 843 S.W.2d 448 (Tex. 1992). 
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publicly suggest alternative locations, for fear that it might incur inverse 

condemnation liability to multiple landowners arising out of a single 

proposed project. Failing to consider available altematives is not only 

inefficient, but is at odds with proper envirom11ental review. 

The necessary review time between public announcement and 

acquisition of property for a patiicular project will depend on many factors 

unique to the project, including the projected cost, the number of feasible 

alternatives, the potential environmental impact, and the extent of federal 

involvement. Competing interests must be considered: on the one hand, 

the interest of the landowner in not having the cloud of condemnation 

hanging over his property, and on the other, the need for thorough public 

debate, enviromnental review, and consideration of project alternatives. If 

the govenmrnnt were subject to liability for 'unreasonable' delay, however, 

its consideration of these competing interests would be skewed. Officials 

would be pressured to expedite prope1iy acquisition to avoid immediate 

liability to a particular landowner, regardless of the long-tenn social costs. 

Public policy dictates that the goverm11ent be free to make this type of 

plaiming decision in the public interest, without threat of civil liability to a 

particular landowner. In the absence of clear constitutional or statutory 

authority, this Court should decline to recognize a liability rnle that would 

so skew governmental decisio1Hnaking. 
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C. Washington Does Not Recognize a "Pre-Condemnation 
Activity" Theory of Inverse Condemnation. 

Washington does not recognize a "pre-condemnation" cause of action 

based on action the govermnent takes before it condemns property. The 

Supreme Court rejected such a theory in Lange v. State, 86 Wn.2d 585,

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